FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/9/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

83247-

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/8/2022 4:44 PM

101528-3

# COURT OF APPEALS, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

KIMBERLY E. SCHMIDT,

Appellant,

VS.

SHIRLEY KANKELFRITZ, et al.,

Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW RAP 13.4

SHAUN HUPPERT, WSBA #35018 Huppert Law Firm, PLLC 612 Harrison, Suite 202 Sumner, WA 98390 206-778-7630

# **

#### A. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER:

The Petitioner is Kimberly E. Schmidt asking the Court for review.

# B. Citation to Court of Appeals Decision.

A reference to the Court of Appeals decision which petitioner wants reviewed:

Review of Appellate Opinion and Decision at No. 83247-6-I/6-9

Court of Appeals decided affirmed the decision on November 7, 2022.

#### C. Issues Presented for Review

The finding that it is reasonable for a landlord to do no inspections for 15 years, have a previous flood, notified of black substances in the unit and find that it does not create an issue of fact that the property owner should have known that mold was present or could be at the Summary Judgment level?

Should the Court find or extend the law that failing to reasonably inspect premises for consumers living spaces for an unreasonable time, such as 15 years is per se negligence since it rewards inaction by the property owner to not be proactive to detect latent issues?

# D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a dispute between a

Landlord/Property Owner, Shirley Kankelfritz

and tenant/renter Schmidt over personal
injuries sustained by Schmidt by exposure to
mold in her rental space. The relevant facts on
reconsideration are: (1) Ms. Schmidt did tell
Kankelfritz that "black stuff" by the toilet
which is next to the shower. That is Notice.

Moreover, it was discovered that in 1995, the basement unit flooded due to a large snow accumulation while Kankelfritz's daughter resided in the unit. An insurance claim, remediation and repairs were necessary. CP 16. This was never disclosed to Schmidt until discovery in the lawsuit.

# 1. Substantive Overview:

Kankelfritz maintains in her declaration

This is motion for reconsideration on a CR 56

motion without oral argument decided on

September 15, 2021. This is a dispute between a

Landlord/Property Owner, Shirley Kankelfritz

and tenant/renter Schmidt over personal injuries sustained by Schmidt by exposure to mold in her rental space. <u>The relevant facts are</u>:

Ms. Schmidt did tell Kankelfritz that "black stuff" by the toilet which is next to the shower. That is Notice. Nothing was done by Kanklefritz then. Therefore, she did notice Kankelfritz about a condition, that mold would have been discovered then. No plumber or expert hired. No mention of resolution of situation. (Also, contradicts below testimony under oath per declaration that she fixed issues in her apartment immediately, see below)

Per her declaration dated: **July 20, 2021**, Kankelfritz mentions she keeps her home in pristine condition, yet does not maintenance or have any repairs done in 15 years in her basement during her April 15, 2021 deposition. She stated the on the rare occasion (Schmidt) notified her of an issue in her unit, I remedied her concern immediately. CP 12, 14.

However, Kankelfritz testified in her deposition that she never inspected the basement unit Schmidt was in for the entire 15 years and no professionals were hired to replace or repair anything in 15 years. (See Deposition – Kankelfritz, Dec of Counsel). CP 16

- Q. Okay. And so did you -- when they were -- when
- 4 Kimberly was a tenant did you ever inspect the unit?
- 5 A. No.
- 6 Q. She was there for about 15 years; right?
- 7 A. Yes.
- 8 Q. And the unit was never inspected for anything?
- 9 A. No.

Moreover, Kankelfritz confirms in her deposition that no one was hired to inspect or repair anything in 15 years.

- Q. Okay. And did you guys -- during Kimberly's
- 23 tenancy did you guys ever hire any outside professionals to
- 24 perform any maintenance or repairs on the unit?
- 25 A. No. shirley Kankelfritz April 15, 2021 NDT Assgn # 50406 Page 16
  - 1 Q. Okay. Did you ever get any complaints from her
  - 2 about things in the unit?
  - 3 A. No.
- 4 Q. Okay. Nothing ever?
- 5 A. Never. No.

# **Defendant's Motion for MSJ page 5, line**

# 11 below Schmidt stating the following:

general. Kankelfritz rented the basement of her home to-

schmidt from October 2001 to March 2016 s In Defendant's are anything to do motion, it within older logistism the stoilet had black stuff in tell Mrs. Kankelfritz about black or c (2) know how the toilet thing works.

(3) Per her declaration dated: **July 20, 2021**, Kankelfritz mentions she keeps her home in pristine condition, yet does not maintenance or have any repairs done in 15 years in her basement during her April 15, 2021 deposition. She stated that on the rare occasion (Schmidt)

notified her of an issue in her unit, I remedied her concern immediately.

- (4) However, Kankelfritz testified in her deposition that she never inspected the basement unit Schmidt was in for the entire 15 years and no professionals were hired to replace or repair anything in 15 years. (See Deposition Kankelfritz, Dec of Counsel).
- Q. Okay. And so did you -- when they were -- when
- 4 Kimberly was a tenant did you ever inspect the unit?
- 5 A. No.
- 6 Q. She was there for about 15 years; right?
- 7 A. Yes.
- 8 Q. And the unit was never inspected for anything?
- 9 A. No

Moreover, Kankelfritz confirms in her deposition that no one was hired to inspect or repair anything in 15 years.

- Q. Okay. And did you guys -- during Kimberly's
- 23 tenancy did you guys ever hire any outside professionals to
- 24 perform any maintenance or repairs on the unit?

- 25 A. No. shirley Kankelfritz April 15, 2021 NDT Assgn # 50406 Page 16
  - 1 Q. Okay. Did you ever get any complaints from her
- 2 about things in the unit?
- 3 A. No.
- 4 Q. Okay. Nothing ever?

**CP 16** 

# **D. ARGUMENT**

- (b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial

public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

# If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The Supreme Court should review this petition since the rights of tenants and other status of people in regards to use of property and being able to do so without concern for unreasonable risk of harm is a substantial public interest. As in this matter, allowing a Landlord/Property Owner to abscond and keep their head in the sand about conditions of their property that could be harmful to others and hide behind the "notice" requirements is inopposite of the publics interests to keep them safe from unreasonable harms. It promotes inaction and prevention of harmful conditions.

In State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). ¶7 We may grant review and consider a Court of Appeals opinion if it "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). This case presents a prime example of an issue of substantial public interest.

The RAPs are intended to "be liberally interpreted to promote justice and facilitate the decision of cases on the merits." RAP 1.2(a). Moreover, we may choose to disregard the RAPs if the interests of justice require. RAP 1.2(c). Review is appropriate in this rare situation where an incorrect holding will have sweeping implications but does not actually render a party "aggrieved" within RAP 3.1.

¶9 Similarly, even traditional standing to bring a lawsuit is not an absolute bar to a court's review

where an important issue is at stake. Grant County Fire Prot. Dist. No. 5 v. City of Moses *Lake*, 150 Wn.2d 791, 803, 83 P.3d 419 (2004) (holding that when an issue "is of substantial public importance, immediately affects significant segments of the population, and has a direct bearing on commerce, finance, labor, industry, or agriculture," we will "take a 'less rigid and more liberal' approach to standing." (quoting Wash. Natural Gas Co. u. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Snohomish County, 77 Wn.2d 94, 96, 459 P.2d 633 (1969))). Likewise, courts may hear cases that have been rendered completely moot if an issue is of substantial public interest. Cathcart-Maltby-Clearview Cmty. Council v. Snohomish County, 96 Wn.2d 201, 208, 634 P.2d 853 (1981) ("A moot case will be reviewed if its issue is a matter of continuing and substantial interest, it presents a question of a public nature which is likely to recur, and it is

desirable to provide an authoritative determination for the future guidance of public officials."); see also State v. Ross, 152 Wn.2d 220, 228, 95 P.3d 1225 (2004).

# **The Law Supports Action and Prevention**

Tincani v. Inland Empire Zoological
Soc'y, 124 Wash.2d 121, 139, 875 P.2d 621
(1994); Restatement (Second) of Torts § 343A
(1965). In such cases, a duty arises if the
landlord "'should anticipate the harm despite
such knowledge or obviousness.'" Tincani, 124
Wash.2d at 139, 875 P.2d 621 (quoting
Restatement (Second) of Torts § 343A(1)).

This duty of reasonable care includes an "affirmative duty to discover dangerous conditions." Egede-Nissen v. Crystal Mountain, Inc., 93 Wn.2d 127, 132, 606 P.2d 1214 (1980) (citing Restatement (Second) of Torts § 343,

comment b); Jarr v. Seeco Const. Co., 35 Wn.App. 324, 326, 666 P.2d 392 (1983).

Lian vs. Stalik, 115 Wn.App 590, 62 P.3d 933 (2003), summarizes the law of RESTATEMENT (SECOND) PROPERTY on Landlord and Tenant law, section 17.6.

RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF PROPERTY (Landlord & Tenant) § 17.6 (1977) states:

In contrast, a landlord is subject to liability under § 17.6 only for those conditions he is aware of or for those conditions he could have known about in the exercise of ordinary care. RESTATEMENT, supra, cmt. c.

Therefore, It is an substantial public interest that affects millions of citizens that a landlord can unreasonably not inspect their rental property to reasonably insure that is safe for living spaces of citizens of this State. The existing law places an affirmative duty on the landlord/property owner to be pro-active and thus unreasonable neglect and not insuring safety of the living spaces of tentants/occupants by failing to inspect for 15 years should be deemed unreasonable and negligent.

# I. CONCLUSION

The Court affirming the Defendant's motion for Summary Judgment should be reversed and remanded to proceed to trial since this involves a substantial public interest.

If the proper diligence would have been done the injuries would not have occurred. 15 years without an inspection, coupled with the prior flooding in the basement unit, it was quite foreseeable that mold was present or should have been discovered. It is an substantial public interest that affects millions of citizens that a landlord can unreasonably not inspect their rental property to reasonably insure that is safe for living spaces of citizens of this State.

I certify that this document contains 2,116 words pursuant to RAP 18.17.