**FILED** SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/18/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

101528-3

FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 1/18/2023 2:20 PM

NO. 832476-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KIMBERLY E. SCHMIDT,

Appellant,

v.

SHIRLEY KANKELFRITZ,

Respondent.

## RESPONDENT'S RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR **REVIEW**

A. Grant Lingg, WSBA #24227 Peter C. Nierman, WSBA #44636 FORSBERG & UMLAUF, P.S. 901 Fifth Avenue, Suite 1400 Seattle, WA 98164

Telephone: (206) 689-8500 Facsimile: (206) 689-8501 Email: glingg@foum.law Email: pnierman@foum.law Attorneys for Respondent

##

### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 14, 2021, the Honorable Janice E. Ellis dismissed Appellant's Complaint against Respondent. CP at 1-2. Judge Ellis provided a well-reasoned letter explaining the rationale for her ruling. CP at 3. In pertinent part, Judge Ellis stated the Declaration of Appellant's property management expert, Karla Tussing, failed to create a material issue of fact because: (1) the declaration failed to adequately qualify the declarant to give the opinions rendered; and (2) the declaration failed to provide a sufficient basis for Ms. Tussing to render expert opinions regarding the standard of care in Snohomish County given that she resides in Arizona. *Id.* Judge Ellis stated she was granting the motion because "plaintiff failed to respond ... with competent evidence." *Id*.

On November 7, 2022, Division One of the Washington State Court of Appeals issued a written opinion affirming the trial court order dismissing Appellant's claims against Respondent. In pertinent part, Division One opined that "Schmidt has presented no admissible evidence that Kankelfritz failed to exercise reasonable care that would have discovered the hidden mold." Opinion at pp. 7-8. Division One also agreed that "Schmidt has not presented supporting evidence that Kankelfritz had actual knowledge of mold and failed to inform the tenant." *Id.* at 9.

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(a), Appellant's Petition for Review was due to be filed within 30 days (by 5:00 p.m. on December 7, 2022). However, Appellants Petition for review was not filed until the following day, on December 8, 2022.

## III. AUTHORITY & ARGUMENT

# A. Appellant's Petition Should be Denied as Untimely.

There is no disputing the fact Appellant's Petition was untimely. Thus, the Court need only determine whether "extraordinary circumstances" exist to justify granting an extension of time. *See* RAP 18.8(b):

- (a) Generally. The appellate court may, on its own initiative or on motion of a party, waive or alter the provisions of any of these rules and enlarge or shorten the time within which an act must be done in a particular case in order to serve the ends of justice, subject to the restrictions in sections (b) and (c).
- (b) Restriction on Extension of Time. The appellate court will only in extraordinary circumstances and to prevent a gross miscarriage of justice extend the time within which a party must file a notice of appeal, a notice for discretionary review, a motion for discretionary review of a decision of the Court of Appeals, a petition for review, or a motion for reconsideration. The appellate court will ordinarily hold that the desirability of finality of decisions outweighs the privilege of a litigant to obtain an extension of time **under this section**. The motion to extend time is determined by the appellate court to which the untimely notice, motion or petition is directed.

. . .

(Emphasis added).

In absence of (1) sufficient excuse for a party's failure to timely file a notice of appeal or (2) sound reasons to abandon preference for finality of decisions, RAP 18.8(b) mandates

dismissal of an appeal that is not timely perfected. Schaefco, Inc. v. Columbia River Gorge Com'n, 121 Wn.2d 366, 849 P.2d 1225 (1993). "Extraordinary circumstances" sufficient to allow an extension of time within which a party must file a notice of appeal are circumstances wherein the filing, despite reasonable diligence, was defective due to excusable error or circumstances beyond the party's control; in such a case, the lost opportunity to appeal would constitute a gross miscarriage of justice, because of the appellant's reasonably diligent conduct. Beckman ex rel. Beckman v. State, Dept. of Social and Health Services, 102 Wn. App. 687, 11 P.3d 313 (2000). "Negligence, or the lack of 'reasonable diligence,' does not amount to 'extraordinary circumstances." Id. at 695. See also State v. Moon, 130 Wn. App. 256, 122 P.3d 192 (2005) (The test for an extension of time for filing an appeal is applied "rigorously," and "there are very few instances in which Washington appellate courts have found that this test was satisfied.") (emphasis added).

Here, Appellant has failed to come forward with evidence supporting the existence of "extraordinary circumstances" justifying an extension of time. Appellant's counsel has asserted a litany of alleged issues in an attempt to manufacture such an excuse. However, counsel's claim of technical issues combined with poor weather is unavailing. It is apparent Appellant's untimely filing simply stems from a failure to properly calendar the deadline, and our courts have held that the mistake of counsel, together with an absence of prejudice to the other party, does not constitute "extraordinary circumstances." *Reichelt v. Raymark Industries, Inc.*, 52 Wn. App. 763, 764 P.2d 653 (1988).

Although Mr. Huppert's declaration states he was unable to meet with his client on November 22, he fails to fully explain why he was unable to meet with Ms. Schmidt in the several weeks that followed or how this prevented him from timely filing a brief. The excuses provided by Appellant ring hollow. As such, the Court should deny the motion for an extension of time to file the Petition for Review.

6

# B. Appellant's Petition Should be Denied Because it Lacks Merit.

In addition to being untimely, Appellant's Petition is lacking in merit. Both Washington case law and the RESTATEMENT [SECOND] OF PROPERTY § 17.6 require Appellant to come forward with evidence supporting that Respondent had notice of the fact there was mold hidden in the interior wall cavity of the bathroom wall in Appellant's rental unit. *See Lian v. Stalick*, 115 Wn. App. 590, 595, 62 P.3d 933 (2003) (citing RESTATMENT (SECOND) OF PROPERTY (LANDLORD & TENANT) § 17.6 (1977)) (emphasis added):

[A party making a claim under the implied warranty of habitability must show:] (1) that the condition was dangerous, (2) that the landlord was aware of the condition or had a reasonable opportunity to discover the condition and failed to exercise ordinary care to repair the condition, and (3) that the existence of the condition was a violation of an implied warranty of habitability or a duty created by statute or regulation.

At her deposition, Appellant was clear she failed to provide Respondent with <u>any</u> notice of the alleged condition, and

Appellant herself was unaware of the presence of mold until after the wall was opened up:

Q. So it wasn't until the walls were removed that you could see the mold; is that correct?

#### A. Yeah.

- Q. So you hadn't ever made notice to Ms. Kankelfritz that there was mold in your apartment because you didn't even know that until the walls were removed; is that correct?
- A. I believe so. This might -- this might not have anything to do with mold. I said something about the toilet had black stuff in it, but that may not even be anything to do with mold. I don't know how the toilet thing works.
- Q. And you never lived in this apartment at any time after the flood; is that correct?

#### A. No.

CP at 34 (Emphasis added).

Lacking evidence of notice, Appellant argues she informed Respondent about the presence of "black stuff" by the toilet in her bathroom. Both of the lower courts properly ruled that this testimony was nowhere near sufficient to establish notice of a clearly unrelated and latent condition that Appellant

herself did not discover during the 15 years she lived in the unit.

Appellant's request for review should, therefore, be denied because there is no merit to her claim.

## IV. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Respondent, Shirley Kankelfritz, respectfully requests the Court to deny Appellant's Petition for Review because it is both untimely and lacking in merit.

DATED this 18th day of January 2023.

FORSBERG & UMLAUF, P.S.

s/Peter C. Nierman

A. Grant Lingg, WSBA #24227 Peter C. Nierman, WSBA #44636 Attorneys for Respondent Shirley Kankelfritz